
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

MEETING MINUTES

April 10, 2006

PRESENT:

Douglas W. Lyon, Chair, Board of Selectmen

Mark Kaplan, Selectman

Ruth I. Clough, Selectman

Jessie Levine, Town Administrator

OTHERS PRESENT:

Michael Morrison, Municipal Pest Management Control, Inc.

Donald F. Bent, Health Officer

Les Norman, Chair, Conservation Commission

Laura Alexander, Conservation Commission

Bob & Emma Crane, Conservation Commission

Debbie Cross, Intertown Record

Carolyn Dube, Argus Champion

Meeting Minutes: Mr. Kaplan moved to approve the minutes of April 3, 2006.  Second Ms. Clough and

approved 3-0.

Budget Committee: Ms. Levine noted that the first meeting of the Budget Committee had been moved

from April 12 to May 17.  She referred to notes from Budget Committee members Jim Wheeler, Bob

Meck, and John Wilson raising questions and concerns that should be addressed this year.  The topics

include bulk fuel purchasing and health savings accounts (HSAs), which Finance Officer Carol Fraley is

researching.  Chair Lyon referred to John Wilson’s suggestion of changing the fiscal year from January-

December to July-June, so that the Town is not hamstrung to spend money before it is appropriated by

Town Meeting.  He said that Dr. Wilson had also suggested setting aside a reserve for cash flow purposes

and budget closer to the previous year’s expenditures so as to have more control over surplus.  The

Selectmen discussed this suggestion and agreed that there might be a savings in the first year, but it would

not be sustained in the long run.

Chair Lyon said the most significant increases in the budget have been new programs.  Ms. Levine said

the 2006 budget also included unusual one-time expenses, such as two bonds for required improvements

and the street light conversion.  Mr. Kaplan added that the increases from the mosquito control program

and veterans’ credits were approved by Town Meeting. Ms. Clough said there will always be unusual

expenses because they result from programs that residents want.

Ms. Clough said that due to increases in property value and tax bills over the past few years, she would

encourage a review of the elderly exemption income and asset limits.  Ms. Levine said that Assessor

Norm Bernaiche plans to review the levels in all three towns and make recommendations for the 2007

Town Meeting.  Ms. Clough said she is concerned that more elderly people do not apply for this

assistance, and she wonders whether it is partly that people are too embarrassed to ask.  Chair Lyon added

that the paperwork may be daunting, and Ms. Levine said that Amy Rankins will sit with people to make

sure that they have the right documentation and their paperwork is filled out accurately.



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes

April 10, 2006

Page 2 of 6

Meeting Schedule: The Selectmen added the following meetings to their schedule (all at 8:00 AM):

• Monday, May 1, 2006 • Monday, June 26, 2006

• Monday, May 8, 2006 • Monday, July 10, 2006 (First Non-Resident Taxpayer Meeting)

• Monday, May 15, 2006 • Monday, July 24, 2006

• Monday, May 22, 2006 • Monday, August 7, 2006

• Monday, June 5, 2006 • Monday, August 21, 2006 (Second Non-Resident Meeting)

• Monday, June 19, 2006 • Monday, August 28, 2006

Recreational Center: Ms. Levine reported that she and Recreation Director Chad Denning had met with

representatives of the Kearsarge Regional School District and the New London Outing Club to discuss the

possible future use of the middle school site for a recreational center that would serve the entire region.

Present at the meeting were Tom Brennan and John O’Connor on behalf of the School District, and Dan

Snyder, Bob Sullivan, and Dee Doheny on behalf of NLOC.  She said that the meeting was positive,

although nothing has been set in stone.  The School District must first evaluate its needs but is open to the

idea of a community resource once its own needs have been met.  The group discussed the possibility that

the SAU would use the original 1941 school building, and the “new” gym and stage and possibly some

classrooms could be used for recreational/community purposes, and the remainder of the building would

be demolished.  Ms. Levine said that she thinks this proposal would be a win-win for the School District

and its residents, but there is a long way to go before anything is finalized.

Newport/County Road: Regarding the April 17 public forum on the intersection of Newport and County

roads, the Selectmen discussed the focus of the presentation.  Chair Lyon asked Ms. Levine to talk to

Howard McCulloch about the use of more videos showing roundabouts and shortening the engineer’s

presentation.

Mosquito Control: At 9:00 AM, the Selectmen were joined by Michael Morrison of the Municipal Pest

Management Company, Inc., and members of the Conservation Commission.  Chair Lyon summarized

the vote at Town Meeting: voters approved the expenditure of Town funds for application of larvicide to

kill appropriate larvae and for the testing and surveillance of adult mosquitoes.  The purpose of today’s

meeting with Mr. Morrison is to plan the project and to address questions related to private property and

municipal property.  He asked Mr. Morrison to lay out his approach to the project.

Mr. Morrison said that he will start by advertising that the mosquito control program is about to begin,

and this gives property owners the opportunity to notify the Town if they do not want their private

property inspected or treated.  He said private property is an issue that comes up in any town.  If a

property needs to be treated, his company will contact the property owner ahead of time.  Landowners can

control what happens on their property.  In his experience, not many property owners say no.

Chair Lyon asked Mr. Morrison what will happen this spring.  Mr. Morrison said that typically, he can

use information from a prior year to guide them in this year’s treatment.  In New London’s case, he is

awaiting approval of the permit application from Concord.  Once the permit is in hand, he will notify the

public with ads in the local papers, cable TV, the Town’s website, and any other resources the Selectmen

suggest.  The Town of Raymond recorded last year’s program on DVD, which can be used by other towns

to show how the trapping, testing and treatment programs work.  He will try to advertise 10-14 days in

advance to give people an opportunity to respond to the Selectmen.

Mr. Kaplan asked Mr. Morrison how he will know where to go.  Mr. Morrison said he knows the habitats

of the species that carry EEE and WNV.  He will be able to identify the larger habitats using the USGS

maps that show forested wetlands, but he will have to find the smaller habitats on the ground.  He needs

to do that almost immediately, although we are fortunate that mosquito hatching may be delayed by the



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes

April 10, 2006

Page 3 of 6

drought.  He will also focus on schools and other priority areas, looking for woodland pools and red

maple swamps.  Mr. Kaplan asked Mr. Morrison for a copy of the map from which he will be working.

Laura Alexander asked if vernal pools were also treated, and Mr. Morrison said that vernal poles are not

larvae sites because they typically have tadpoles and other vertebrates that post threats to mosquito larvae.

A lot of living things make a run at mosquito larvae, so mosquitoes have adapted to woodland pools

because those pools do not support anything other than the larvae.  Mr. Morrison said the NWI wetlands

map shows wetlands that are 1-2 acres in size, while New London’s habitats are most likely less than one

acre.  At the end of the year he will have some great biological data for use by the Conservation

Commission.

Ms. Clough said that on the Town Meeting floor, it was discussed that the large wetlands would be

identified.  She asked how Mr. Morrison would go about identifying breeding grounds.  Would he walk

the length and width of New London?  Mr. Morrison said he would start by prioritizing areas and then he

or his staff will walk with boots and a stick and “dipper” to investigate pools.  Bob Crane asked if they

would consider wetlands that are being drained, and Mr. Morrison replied that this is unlikely because

active drainage is a problem for mosquitoes, which need stagnant, shallow swamps.  He said biologists

will go into woods and know where they will find the larvae and where not.  Mr. Crane said the USGS

maps often show headwaters of watersheds.  Mr. Morrison said that most permanent large wetlands that

contain cattails and other flora are not hosts to mosquito larvae.  However, the edges of such areas might

be habitats.  He said most people are surprised to find out where one doesn’t find larvae.

Mr. Morrison explained that EEE mosquitoes like woodland pools; those are the vectors called

“melanura” that feed on birds.  Spring treatment is required to prevent those larvae from hatching into

mosquitoes.  In July and August, treatment focuses on “bridge vectors,” which are the mosquitoes that

feed on birds and mammals.  Those mosquitoes can breed in short-term pools, such as in catch basins and

stagnant puddles left by thunderstorms.  Ms. Levine clarified that the second treatment would only take

place if necessary.  Mr. Morrison said that if the summer is dry, then it is unlikely that these short-term

habitats would allow larvae to hatch.  Ms. Clough asked how often Mr. Morrison would be in town over

the summer, and he said that he would be here on average once per week.

Chair Lyon summarized the process: Mr. Morrison has submitted the application to the state for the

larvicide permit and awaits approval.  In the meantime, he has started looking at the maps to identify large

wetlands and will locate additional sites by on-the-ground surveys.  As part of the process, he will run

notices in the papers and will contact property owners (or owners can identify themselves) for treatment

of their particular property.  He asked Mr. Morrison whether he collects and tests larvae prior to

treatment.  Mr. Morrison said that this year he would collect and identify the larvae to identify the sites

for treatment.  They will not treat sites that do not have the vectors that spread EEE; there may be pests

breeding in those sites but if the sites do not have the particular larvae for EEE, they will not be treated.

He said that based on experience, the vectors return to the same sites year after year, so the testing will

only have to be done in the first year.  Ms. Clough asked if he would be treating the sites weekly, and Mr.

Morrison replied that he would treat each site once early in the spring and then not again this year.

Chair Lyon asked how the actual treatment was performed.  Mr. Morrison said his staff wear equipment

that look like leaf blowers, only the hopper is filled with corn kernels.  They apply the kernels at a rate of

2-3 pounds per acre, though most areas are much smaller than an acre.  Most of the work is in identifying

the locations and collecting the species; the application is over quickly.

Ms. Alexander asked Mr. Morrison to clarify speciation vs. testing.  Mr. Morrison said that they do not

test the larvae for EEE; they are testing for the species that typically carries EEE.  Biologists are not sure

whether EEE is in the birds or the mosquitoes.  His company will start testing actual mosquitoes around

Memorial Day by setting traps, and they will continue to test all summer into September.  If there is a lot



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes

April 10, 2006

Page 4 of 6

of disease, they will go later in to the fall.  The collected mosquitoes will be stored in a sub-zero freezer

and brought to Concord to test for EEE (the CDC gave states funds to set up laboratories for such testing).

Biologists can test for WNV themselves but the state must test for EEE.  He will usually hear back from

the state within 2-3 days of testing.  If there are positive tests, then the community has to decide its next

step.

Chair Lyon asked if birds were tested as well.  Mr. Morrison said that crows and blue jays are great

indicators, but crows have started to develop antibodies and have been more successful at surviving, so

there is less bird testing.  Last year, NH performed no testing west of I93, although Keene had its birds

tested and found EEE.

Les Norman asked what the next step would be if mosquitoes were found with EEE.  Mr. Morrison said

in that event, he would sit down with town officials and decide what the next step should be.  Ms.

Alexander asked if EEE was not found in any mosquito testing, would it be a given to repeat the program

the following year.  Mr. Morrison said he would leave that to a local decision.  EEE was known for

appearing on a cyclical basis, but it has not been behaving like that lately.  He said a permit would be

needed annually which gives towns an opportunity to decide whether to go on or not.  Mr. Norman

referred to a study that showed ecological damage after two years of treatment and stressed the

importance of mechanisms to stop treatment.  Ms. Clough said that during budget season next winter, the

town will know if it has EEE in town and the magnitude of it.  Chair Lyon said the town will assemble

facts and data that will enable voters to make the ultimate decision.

Mr. Morrison said he will be able to provide good biological data on areas of concern.  Chair Lyon said

that as of Town Meeting, there was only one study that indicated ecological damage as a result of BTI

(the larvicide used by Mr. Morrison), and that study dated back to 1998 with no follow-up.  It is an

indicator that there could be damage, but no proof.  Mr. Morrison said he has used this bacterium for 15

years and it has been around a lot longer than that.  There has been a lot of testing and research on non-

targets that found that midges and black flies are also susceptible to the bacterium, but their habitats are

different and the other species may not be present where the mosquito larvae are.  He said his staff will

identify and record invertebrates and macro-invertebrates in these habitats.  Mr. Morrison said the BTI

does not replicate itself so it will not linger in the water after it has been taken in by the larvae.  It is a tool

that does its job and then disappears.  Mr. Kaplan noted that Mr. Morrison has been working in

Portsmouth for about 20 years, and asked if he had been treating the same sites with BTI during that time.

Mr. Morrison said that he has.

Chair Lyon asked if there are active Conservation Commissions in the other towns in which Mr. Morrison

has worked who may have done studies or monitored his work.  Mr. Morrison said that all of the

Commissions have researched what he does. A lot of them do wetlands projects based on the information

he gathers.  Some Commissions have tried using dragonflies, which did not work.  Chair Lyon said it

might be useful for members of New London’s Conservation Commission to contact others to talk about

any potential long-term impact.

Chair Lyon summarized the process again: after notifying the public and conducting site and larvae

surveys, Mr. Morrison will apply BTI where warranted and monitor and test the results.  He will possibly

treat again in later summer for other mosquito vectors, if there is a reason to treat.  At the end of the year,

he will delivered detailed maps showing areas that were treated and testing results, and the town can

review the reports and evaluate the whole program.

Les Norman asked if adjacent towns were doing anything.  Mr. Morrison said he submitted permits for

Newbury and Andover.  He said most mosquitoes don’t travel far, and if a bird with EEE flies into New

London, the reduced mosquito population here limits the spread of the illness.  He said the spread of EEE

can be further reduced with education.  Chair Lyon reiterated that this program is not in lieu of education.



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes

April 10, 2006

Page 5 of 6

The Selectmen need to get news out about this program and educate people about what they can do to

prevent illness.

Bob Crane noted that Massachusetts has been applying larvicide for years but mosquitoes in the fall still

test positive for EEE.  Mr. Morrison said the melanura adults come out in two generations: the spring

adults feed on bird chicks and later in the year there is a second hatching.

Chair Lyon asked Mr. Morrison how he would approach treatment of Town-owned property, such as the

Low Plain.  Ms. Alexander said that the Low Plain is a wetland with a beaver dam with a pipe that keeps

the water moving.  Mr. Morrison doubted that it is a mosquito habitat.  Chair Lyon said this would be

useful information to share with residents who are concerned about conservation properties.  Ms.

Alexander thought another sensitive area was off Bog Road, between Messer Pond and Clark Pond.  Mr.

Morrison said that beaver dams are generally not a problem because they displace the larvae.  The group

discussed the wetlands behind the schools, which Mr. Morrison will review more closely.  Mr. Morrison

said the melanura love sage hummocks, which Ms. Alexander said describes the Columbus Ave. wetland.

Ms. Clough asked if there could be a status report mid-Season, and Mr. Morrison agreed to report back

between Memorial Day and mid-June, at which time he would have some preliminary data.  He invited

members of the Conservation Commission to observe during the wetland surveying and mapping, which

led to a discussion about the use of GIS for this project.  Ms. Alexander offered to create a GIS layer

using the GPS points collected by Mr. Morrison.

All agreed that communication with residents was of utmost importance, and Mr. Morrison said he would

provide an information sheet.  Dr. Bent, who joined the meeting in progress, suggested education about

what individuals can do to remove threats from their properties, such as buckets and old tires.  Dr. Bent

said he is working on information to share.

Chair Lyon thanked everyone for joining the Selectmen this morning, and all departed.

Building Permits:

• James G. and Susan W. King, 102 Wilmot Center Road, Elkins (Map 078, Lot 009) permit to add

overhang to existing barn – Approved (Permit 06-017)

• Charles F. and Martha S. Martin, 143 Rowell Hill Road (Map 123, Lot 026), permit to remodel

bathroom, add wall and skylight to bonus room – Approved (Permit 06-18)

• John C. Coughlin, 242 Poor Road (Map 090, Lot 002), permit to install pre-built  (10’ x 12’) storage

shed, remove old storage bin under deck and add staircase from deck to ground on existing deck.

Also replace decking and deck rail system – Approved (Permit 06-019)

• Frank P. and Kathy A. Del Giudice, 100 Carter Road (Map 071, Lot 003) permit for garden shed

replacement in existing yard – Approved (Permit 06-020)

Sign Permit Applications:

NONE

Other Items for Signature:

• Disbursement Voucher for the week of April 10, 2006 – Approved

• Application for Use of Whipple Memorial Town Hall by the New London Playhouse, Inc. for

Sunday, April 30, 2006 from 1 p.m. to 4 p.m. for auditions – Approved



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes

April 10, 2006

Page 6 of 6

• Application for Use of Whipple Memorial Town Hall by the New London Playhouse, Inc. for

Thursday, May 18 and Friday, May 19, 2006 from 6 p.m. to 9 p.m. for auditions – Approved

• Application for Current Use for  Donald and Elaine Robar, 51 Carter Road (Map 070, Lot 041) -

Approved

There being no further business, the Board of Selectmen adjourned the meeting at 10:05 AM.

Respectfully submitted,

Jessie W. Levine

Town Administrator


